COURT OF SOURCESS
DIVISION OF STATE OF WINNESSTON

ORIGINAL

No. 91387-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Dr. Howard Ashby asks this Court to accept review of parts of the decision as set forth in Part B of this motion.

B. DECISION FOR REVIEW

Dr. Ashby requests review of the Division Three Court of Appeals decision in Volk v. DeMeerleer, et.al, Cause No. 31814-1-III, attached as Appendix A. As is set forth herein, in reversing the trial court's summary dismissal of the negligence claim against Dr. Ashby, the Court of Appeals imposed on private-practice psychotherapists providing mental health care in an outpatient setting a generalized, ambiguous duty to protect third persons from "foreseeable harm." This duty was originally established in the context of "in-custody" or "take charge" treatment, and for the reasons set forth below, the Court of Appeals' imposition of such an undefined and amorphous duty on private practitioners is contrary to the public interests of this state, as it infringes on the very purposes of the physician-patient privilege and casts doubt and uncertainty for practitioners regarding the competing interests of protecting patient confidences versus disclosing those confidences to protect against possible or potential harm to third persons. RAP 13.4(b)(4). In the end, a vague duty imposed by the Court

¹Dr. Ashby filed a motion for reconsideration of the Court of Appeals decision on December 3, 2014. The Court of Appeals issued its decision denying reconsideration on February 3, 2015.

of Appeals discourages persons from seeking the mental health care they need and/or fully disclosing confidences to their provider, and likewise discourages mental health providers from accepting "high risk" patients who may present liability concerns to the practitioner if he or she guesses wrong in attempting to comply with the ill-defined duty to protect.

Specifically, Dr. Ashby seeks review of this case so that the Court can unambiguously identify under what circumstances a psychotherapist in private practice must disclose patient confidences to protect third parties. This Court should accept review to bring Washington in line with the overwhelming number of states that require disclosures only when the patient expresses a specific threat against a readily identifiable person.

Dr. Ashby also asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision as it relates to the conclusion that the law "likely recognizes two levels of speculation, one for purposes of summary judgment, and one for the purpose of finding facts after an evidentiary hearing or trial." *Volk*, 337 P.3d at 393. As is set forth herein, the double-standard created by the Court of Appeals is contrary to Washington law, necessitating review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

A copy of the trial court order granting summary judgment is attached as Appendix B. A copy of the declarations from lay witnesses, coworkers and family of Mr. Jan DeMeerleer is attached as Appendix C. A

copy of Dr. Ashby's office notes is attached as Appendix D. A copy of Dr. Ashby's Reply Brief in Support of Summary Judgment and Motion and Memorandum to Strike Dr. Knoll's declaration is attached as Appendix E.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that this case presents the "humbling and daunting task of demarcating the duty a mental health professional owe[s] to third parties to protect them from the violent behavior of the professional's outpatient client." Volk v. Demeerleer, 337 P.3d 372, 327 (2014). In undertaking this "humbling and daunting task," the Court of Appeals specifically identified the following issues presented by this case: (1) What duty is owed by a mental health professional to protect a third party from the violent behavior of the professional's patient or client; (2) Does a mental health professional owe a duty to protect a third person, when an outpatient, who occasionally expresses homicidal ideas, does not identify a specific target; (3) Does the language of RCW 71.05.120(2) apply by analogy outside the context of an involuntary commitment; and (4) Is a mental health professional's duty of care, when treating a voluntary outpatient, limited to warning someone identified by the patient as a target of an act of violence? Id.

Dr. Ashby submits that the Court of Appeals correctly identified the issues but, as suggested in the Court of Appeals' opinion, these issues must

now be resolved by this Court. The scope of the duty owed by a private practice mental health professional to a non-client/third person is a matter of substantial public interest to mental health professionals, mental health clients and the public. As is set forth below, Washington is one of but a few states that has not specifically and directly defined that scope of duty as Dr. Ashby requests herein. This case provides an opportunity to define the duty owed by professionals with clear guidelines/parameters as to when action should be taken for the protection of third parties. Additionally, defining the duty will give mental health patients the security of knowing that the confidences they share with their mental health professionals will not be disclosed absent an actual and imminent threat of harm to an identifiable person. Fundamental to mental health care is the encouragement of patients to share information freely with mental health professionals, and the public interest is served when patients in need of mental health care in fact seek out that care and are forthcoming with their thoughts and feelings without the threat of unnecessary breaches confidence arising from the uncertainty of when the law requires that a third-person be warned about the vague, potential actions of a patient.

Also presented for review is the issue of whether Washington law recognizes "two levels of speculation" depending upon whether the evidence is considered at summary judgment or at trial. Since the sufficiency of expert causation testimony is frequently a disputed element in tort law, the language from the Court of Appeals case should be addressed pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Jan DeMeerleer, who had a bipolar disorder, became a patient of Dr. Ashby in September 2001. Dr. Ashby continued to provide care to Mr. DeMeerleer into 2010. The frequency of office visits was largely driven by Mr. DeMeerleer's life circumstances and the waxing and waning of his disorder. In manic phases of his disorder, he would consider a wide range of "dark" thoughts. However, between 2001 and July 18, 2010, Mr. DeMeerleer did not assault anyone. When Mr. DeMeerleer expressed anger or hostile emotions, he would quickly voice his embarrassment about these thoughts and deny that he would ever act on them. Over nine years, Dr. Ashby and Mr. DeMeerleer developed a close, professional relationship. Assessments were performed by Dr. Ashby in each office visit as Mr. DeMeerleer discussed his recent experiences and feelings.

On April 16, 2010, Mr. DeMeerleer had his last appointment with Dr. Ashby. Mr. DeMeerleer was taking various medications for his disorder, and Dr. Ashby assessed him as being logical, goal oriented, insightful and having intact judgment. Dr. Ashby's note provides in part: "He states when depressed he can get intrusive suicidal ideation, not that he would act on it

but it bothers him. At this point it's not a real clinical problem but we will keep an eye on it."

Separate and very distinct from any thoughts of suicide or self-harm, Mr. DeMeerleer never expressed the slightest suggestion to Dr. Ashby that he could or would harm Rebecca Schiering (his romantic interest) or her children. When Dr. Ashby last saw Mr. DeMeerleer on April 16, 2010, DeMeerleer expressed no intent, plan or desire to harm anyone, including Ms. Schiering and/or her children. As of April 16, 2010, Mr. DeMeerleer's last documented, aggressive or angry thought was approximately 4-5 years old and was wholly unrelated to Ms. Schiering or her family.

On July 18, 2010, Mr. DeMeerleer committed suicide after assaulting one of Ms. Schiering's sons and killing Ms. Schiering and one of her other sons. Uniformly, Ms. Schiering's family, Mr. DeMeerleer's family, Mr. DeMeerleer's co-workers, and Mr. DeMeerleer's friends never thought DeMeerleer would harm Ms. Schiering or her children. *See, Appendix C.* Even Ms. Beverly Volk, Ms. Schiering's mother and primary plaintiff in the lawsuit, thought Mr. DeMeerleer hurting Ms. Schiering or her boys was unforeseeable. Ms. Volk and all other witnesses could not foresee any propensity or suggestion that Mr. DeMeerleer could physically cause harm to the victims.

Based upon the foregoing, the trial court granted Dr. Ashby's summary judgment motion. The Court of Appeals, apparently believing it was compelled to apply *Petersen v. State* to a private practice outpatient setting, reversed the summary dismissal.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review of this case because substantial public interests in this state will be furthered by a clear rule from this Court that mental health providers in private practice only have a duty to disclose patient confidences to protect readily identifiable victims from specific threats of harm made by patients. Mental health patients, providers, and the public in general will benefit from a clearly defined duty owed by private-practice, mental health providers to third persons.

This case presents a fact pattern where the psychiatric patient, Mr. DeMeerleer, never expressed actual threats of harm regarding the victims of his assaults. The facts provide an opportunity for this Court to clearly define the legal duty owed to a non-client/third party arising only if the patient expresses (1) an actual threat of harm (2) to a reasonably identifiable person or persons.

1. Washington Is One Of The Few States Not To Have Rejected The Broad and Ambiguous "*Tarasoff*" Duty.

The vast majority of states have specifically defined, whether by legislative enactment or case law, the precise scope of the duty owed by

mental health professionals to protect third persons from the risk of harm posed by the mental health professional's patients. Nearly every state that has addressed the issues presented herein has created bright-line rules imposing a duty on mental health professionals to protect or warn readily identifiable targets of specific and imminent threats of harm. Washington is one of the few states not to have directly and clearly defined the scope of this duty, and as a result, mental health professionals in Washington are left without clear guidance as to when they can or must breach their patients' confidences to warn a potential victim of harm. The nature of a patient report that triggers a need to breach patient confidences is wholly undefined. Similarly, patients in Washington cannot know the parameters of the confidentiality and privilege they share with their mental health providers. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case leaves undefined the scope of the duty to protect or warn third persons as those who may be "foreseeably endangered." The ambiguity, especially in the context of the emotions and thoughts encountered in mental health care, makes practical application of the duty a matter of educated guess work. The absence of a clear and unambiguously defined duty can and will be detrimental to the mental health care system in Washington. This case presents an opportunity to have Washington join the 48 other states that have clear law regarding when a

mental health professional in private practice must take action to protect third persons from potential harm caused by mental health patients.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court based upon a finding that Petersen v. State, 100 Wash.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983) was controlling. See, Volk, 337 P.3d at 374. In Petersen, this Court held that a special relationship existed between a psychiatrist employed at a state mental hospital and a known-to-be-dangerous patient which established a duty of reasonable care in favor of a party injured by the patient. Petersen, 100 Wash.2d at 426–28. Petersen's "duty to warn" theory originated in Tarasoff v. Regents of University of California, 17 Cal.3d 425, 551 P.2d 334 (1976), in which the California Supreme Court held that when a psychotherapist determines, or pursuant to the standards of his or her profession should determine, that a patient presents a serious danger of violence to another, the psychotherapist incurs an obligation to use reasonable care to protect the third person against such danger. 17 Cal.3d While recognizing the "public interest in supporting effective 439. treatment and mental illness and in protecting the rights of patients to privacy (citation omitted), and the consequent public importance of safeguarding the confidential character of psychotherapeutic communication," the Tarasoff Court ultimately rejected the argument that

the duty to warn a third person only arises when there is a specific risk of harm to a readily identifiable victim. 17 Cal.3d at 440-41.

Seven years after *Tarasoff*, this Court decided *Petersen v. State*, in which the Court addressed the duty owed by a mental health professional to warn third persons of potential danger in the context of a patient being released from a state hospital. After first recognizing the general rule that ordinarily a person has no duty to protect a third person from harm caused by another, this Court essentially adopted the *Tarasoff* rule:

Consequently, we conclude Dr. Miller incurred a duty to take reasonable precautions to protect anyone who might reasonably be in danger by Larry Knox's drug related mental problems. At trial Dr. Miller testified that Knox was a potentially dangerous person and that his behavior would be unpredictable. He also testified that if Knox used angel dust again he was likely to continue having delusions and hallucinations, especially if he quit taking the drug Navane. Dr. Miller testified he knew of Knox's reluctance to take Navane and he thought it quite likely Knox would revert to using angel dust again. Nevertheless, Dr. Miller failed to petition the court for a 90 day commitment, as he could have done under RCW 71.05.280 or take other reasonable precautions to protect those who might reasonably be in danger by Knox's drug related mental problems.

100 Wn.2d at 428-29.

The *Petersen* Court observed that after *Tarasoff* was decided, subsequent California decisions "limited the scope of the therapist's duty to readily identifiable victims." *Petersen*, 100 Wn.2d at 428, *citing Thompson* v. County of Alameda, 614 P.2d 728 (1980). Nonetheless, the Court further

sided with those courts that "have required only that the therapist reasonably foresee that the risk engendered by the patient's condition would endanger others." *Petersen*, 100 Wn.2d at 428. As is set forth herein, that position now represents the distinct minority.

In 1985, California adopted Assembly Bill 1133 (1985–1986 Reg. Sess.) in response to the concerns expressed in the *Tarasoff* dissent. "The resulting statutory provision, section 43.92, was expressly not intended to overrule *Tarasoff* and its progeny, 'but rather to limit the psychotherapists' liability for failure to warn to those circumstances where the patient has communicated an 'actual threat of violence against an identified victim [,]" and to "abolish the expansive rulings of Tarasoff and Hedlund ... that a therapist can be held liable for the mere failure to predict and warn of potential violence by his patient." (Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 1133 (1985 Reg. Sess., May 14, 1985, p. 2.)" Ewing v. Northridge Hosp. Med. Ctr., 120 Cal. App. 4th 1289, 1300-01, 16 Cal. Rptr. 3d 591, 599 (2004). "Civil Code section 43.92 (section 43.92) immunizes psychotherapists from liability for failing to predict, warn of, or protect from a patient's violent behavior, unless the patient communicated to the psychotherapist a threat against an identifiable victim." Greenberg v. Superior Court, 172 Cal. App. 4th 1339, 1344, 92 Cal. Rptr. 3d 96 (2009).

California is not the only state to have adopted statutes that limit the liability of mental health care providers to those occasions when a patient makes an actual threat against a reasonably identifiable person. In fact, at least 30 other states have adopted legislation that requires some form of specific threat against a reasonably identifiable person before a duty arises. Other states have case law holding the same. See Appendix F. Also of note is the fact that that Lipari v. Sears Roebuck & Co., 497 F. Supp. 185 (D.Neb. 1980), a case substantially relied upon in Peterson, was legislatively modified in 1994 so that patient communication of "a serious threat of physical violence against a reasonably identifiable victim or victims" was required before a duty of protection arises.

As the development of the law post *Tarasoff* and *Peterson* makes clear, there is a significant public interest and a recognized need for mental health professionals and patients alike to have clear parameters defining the extent to which client confidences must be kept sacred and the circumstances when the mental health professional can and must disclose such confidences for the protection of others. This Court should accept review of this case and bring Washington in line with the vast majority of states that have directly answered the questions presented herein. Review is appropriate pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) to address the significant public interest raised by the issues presented herein.

2. The *Petersen v. State* Duty Conflicts With Washington's Physician-Patient Privilege.

The purpose of the physician-patient privilege is to enable the patient to secure complete and appropriate treatment by encouraging candid communication between the patient and the physician, free of fear of the possible embarrassment and invasion of privacy engendered by an unauthorized disclosure of information. See, e.g., Louisell & Sinclair, Reflections Law of Privileged Communications—The Psychotherapist-Patient Privilege in Perspective, 59 Calif. L. Rev. 30, 52 (1971)(noting that psychotherapy requires exploration of patient's innermost fears and fantasies, and effective treatment is dependent upon patient's trust in therapist). In defining when mental health providers must warn others, the potential impact on the physician-patient privilege must be considered. Pursuant to RCW 70.02.020, a health care provider "may not disclose health care information about a patient to any other person without the patient's written authorization." RCW 70.02.050 contains very narrow and specifically defined exceptions to this prohibition. One exception allows for disclosure as follows:

To any person if the health care provider or health care facility reasonably believes that disclosure will avoid or minimize an <u>imminent danger to the health or safety of the patient or any other individual</u>, however there is no obligation under this chapter on the part of the provider or facility to so disclose.

RCW 70.02.050(d) (emphasis added)

RCW 70.02.050(d) simply cannot be reconciled with the general and ambiguous duty announced in *Petersen v. State* (to "protect anyone who might foreseeably be endangered" by a patient). The mental health professional's duty of confidentiality under the statute can only be breached when there is an "imminent danger" to an individual, but *Petersen* calls for a disclosure (and therefore a breach of confidences) with a merely potential endangerment, including danger to undefined and unknown people.

RCW 71.05.020(20) defines "imminent" as follows:

"Imminent" means the state or condition of being likely to occur at any moment or near at hand, rather than distant or remote;

Pursuant to RCW 70.02.050(d), mental health professional like Dr. Ashby are prohibited from disclosing any information regarding patients, like Mr. DeMeerleer, unless the professional knows there is a danger to someone that is "likely to occur at any moment." Under the Court of Appeals decision in this matter, mental health professionals in Washington are left to guess at when and what they are ethically permitted and legally required to disclose. Mental health patients in Washington are left to wonder to what degree their confidences can and will be protected from disclosure. Patients will likely withhold their most troubling thoughts and feelings for fear of recrimination, and mental health professionals, as

suggested in the Court of Appeals' opinion, will be forced to practice defensively while erring on the side of disclosing confidences that hint at some undefined endangerment of others. These circumstances can and will have a deleterious effect on Washington's mental health care system.

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