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

IV. ARGUMENT.

A. Washington law is settled. Dr. Ashby's duty of care extends to foreseeable third-parties such as those represented by Volk in this case.

Liability for breach of a duty to third parties, based on foreseeability, is well established in Washington.

"The better reasoned authorities do not regard foreseeability as the handmaiden of proximate cause. To connect them leads to too many false premises and confusing conclusions. Foreseeability is, rather, one of the elements of negligence; it is more appropriately attached to the issues whether defendant owed plaintiff a duty, and, if so, whether the duty imposed by the risk embraces that conduct which resulted in injury to plaintiff. The hazard that brought about or assisted in bringing about the result must be among the hazards to be perceived reasonably and with respect to which defendants' conduct was negligent. ... It is not, however, the unusualness of the act which resulted in injury to plaintiff that is the test of foreseeability, but whether the result of the act is within the ambit of the hazards covered by the duty imposed upon defendant."

Rikstad v. Holmberg, 76 Wn.2d 265, 268-269, 456 P.2d 355 (1969)(Emphasis added).

"The sequence of events, of course, need not be foreseeable. The manner in which the risk culminates in harm may be unusual, improbable, and highly unexpected, from the point of view of the actor at the time of his conduct. And yet, if the harm suffered falls within the general danger area, there may be liability provided other requests of legal causation are present."

Berglund v. Spokane County, 4 Wn. 2d 309, 319 – 320, 103 P.2d 355 (1940)(Emphasis added).

In Peterson v. State, 100 Wn.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983), this court concluded a psychiatrist has a duty to protect against a third party's injuries caused by a patient. The court held the defendant psychiatrist "incurred a duty to take reasonable precautions to protect anyone who might foreseeably be endangered by [his patients] drug related mental problems." Id. at 428. (Emphasis added). The court explained: "In the present case, we follow the approach utilized in Lipari v. Sears Roebuck & Co., 497 Fed. Supp. 185, 193 (D. Neb. 1980) and Kaiser v. Suburban Transp. Sys., supra." Peterson, 100 Wn. 2d. at 428 (emphasis added).

The issue presented in *Lipari* was the same as presented in *Peterson* and in the case at bar. Specifically, whether a psychotherapist owes a duty of care to third persons injured by a patient. The court concluded:

"... the relationship between a psychotherapist and his patient gives rise to an affirmative duty for the benefit of third persons. This duty requires that the therapist initiate whatever precautions are reasonably necessary to protect potential victims of his patient. This duty arises only when, in accordance with the standards of his profession, the therapist knows or should know that his patient's dangerous propensities present an unreasonable risk of harm to others."

Lipari, 497 Fed. Supp. 185, 193 (D. Neb. 1980).

Lipari's holding was based primarily on Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315 (1965).

"Under the common law, a person had no duty to prevent a third party from causing physical injury to another. A number of courts, however, have recognized an exception to this general rule. Under this exception, a person has a duty to control the conduct of a third person and thereby to prevent physical harm to another if:

- (a) a special relation exists between the actor and the third person which imposes a duty upon the actor to control the third person's conduct, or
- (b) a special relation exists between the actor and the other which gives rise to the other a right to protection."

Lipari, 497 Fed. Supp. at 188. See also, Tarasoff v. Regents of the University of California, 17 Cal. 3d 425, 551 P.2d 334 (1976) (applying section 315).

In Kaiser v. Suburban Transp. Sys., 65 Wn. 2d 461, 398 P.2d 14 (1965), a bus driver lost consciousness due to the side effects of a drug which had been prescribed by his physician and the bus struck a telephone

pole. One of the passengers on the bus was injured and commenced an action against the bus driver's physician, among others. 65 Wn. 2d 461, 462-463. Without citation to the Restatement of Torts, the court concluded there was sufficient evidence to submit the issue of the doctor's negligence to the jury.

"A physician is responsible in damages when he fails to possess such skill and learning as is usually possessed by the average member of the profession in the locality where he practices and to apply that learning with reasonable care. ... Doctors Smith, Van Arsdel and Faghin all testified that a warning should have been given when the drug is prescribed because of its potential known dangers. About 20 percent of the people who take the drug experience unwanted side effects ... there is evidence in the record that the doctor failed to warn his patient, who he knew to be a bus driver, of the dangerous side effects of drowsiness ... that may be caused by the taking of this drug. This evidence was sufficient to submit the issue of the doctor's negligence to the jury."

Id. at 464.

It is well settled that, in a claim of negligent treatment, the plaintiff need not be the patient. Webb v. Neuroeduc. Inc., P.C., 121 Wn. App. 336, 346, 88 P.3d 417 (2004). (Citing Kaiser v. Suburban Transp. Sys., supra). A non-patient can state a cause of action for negligent treatment by showing the injury resulted from the failure of a healthcare provider to follow the accepted standard of care. Webb, 121 Wn. App. at 346. In Webb, the plaintiff was the patient's father. He sued the defendant psychologist for negligently implanting and developing false memories of sexual abuse in his son. Id. at 339. One of the issues on appeal was whether the defendant owed the non-

patient father a duty of care in a medical malpractice case. The court concluded the psychologist did owe a duty and reversed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal. *Id.* at 351.

In Est. of Davis v. Dept. of Corrections, 117 Wn. App. 833, 113 P.3d 487 (2005), the court recognized a cause of action pursuant to Peterson, supra. The court wrote:

"There is no general duty to protect others from the criminal acts of a third party. An exception to this rule exists, however, if there is a special relationship between the defendant and the victim or the defendant and the criminal. Such a duty is imposed only if there is a definite, established, and continuing relationship between the defendant and the third-party criminal actor."

Estate of Davis v. Dept. of Corrections, 127 Wn. App. 833, 841 – 842, 113 P.3d 487 (2005). (Emphasis added).

In *Davis*, the court rejected the plaintiffs "special relationship" theory because the defendant saw the counselor only one time. *Id.* at 842. In the present case, DeMeerleer saw Dr. Ashby more than 50 times over a period of nine years. Dr. Ashby had a "special relationship with DeMeerleer, upon which plaintiffs have a cause of action.

As demonstrated above, Washington has historically imposed a duty of care on defendant healthcare providers who breach the standard of care with respect to foreseeable events.

Dr. Ashby relies upon the declarations of DeMeerleer's family and prior spouse for the proposition harm to the Schiering family was

unforeseeable. These are irrelevant, as they are based on then current lay impressions, not the confidential, professional knowledge and treatment of DeMeerleer by Dr. Ashby. They lack foundation in this medical negligence action. Dr. Knoll, on behalf of Volk, provides the only expert medical testimony that addresses standard of care issues. Dr. Knoll provides substantial elements from Dr. Ashby's treatment records to establish that the Schiering family was foreseeably within the ambit of risk from DeMeerleer. (CP 88-91). Harm to the Schiering family was, for summary judgment, foreseeable.

It is not, however, the unusualness of the act which resulted in injury to plaintiff that is the test of foreseeability, but whether the result of the act is within the ambit of the hazards covered by the duty imposed upon defendant.

Rikstad v. Holmberg, 76 Wn.2d 265, 268–269, 456 P.2d 355 (1969). See also Berglund v. Spokane County, 4 Wn. 2d 309, 319 – 320, 103 P.2d 355 (1940).

In this case, the court of appeals concisely addressed Dr. Ashby's duty of care:

Imposing a duty on Dr. Ashby, in the setting of our case, entails addressing whether the Schiering family was a foreseeable victim. The family was more foreseeable as a victim than Cynthia Petersen in *Petersen v. State*, since Larry Knox, the criminal actor in *Petersen*, had no prior connection to Cynthia Petersen. Jan DeMeerleer had a prior connection to Rebecca Schiering and her three sons. DeMeerleer had already slugged one son. According to the evidence before the court on summary judgment, Dr. Ashby knew that Jan DeMeerleer had already threatened to use violence against his former wife and her boyfriend. Dr. Ashby knew DeMeerleer suffered from distress and

depression resulting from the breakup with Rebecca Schiering.

Petersen v. State also answers the dissent's position that no liability should attach to Dr. Ashby because there were no threats uttered about the Schierings. Cynthia Petersen was not the subject of prior threats.

Volk v. DeMeerleer, 184 Wn. App. 389, 432, 337 P.3d 372 (2014).

Based on the foregoing and when considering Dr. Knolls' testimony, Dr. Ashby clearly had a duty of care to the Schiering family, as correctly determined by the court of appeals.

B. RCW 70.02.050 Does Not Prohibit Dr. Ashby From Sharing DeMeerleer's Healthcare Information.

The claimed of breach of the standard by Dr. Ashby does not rely on disclosure of healthcare information. Tangentially, Dr. Knoll states, hypothetically, if Ashby had provided proper care, the incident probably would not have happened; and, otherwise, Dr. Ashby may have had other options, such as warning the Schierings family. In that hypothetical context, and as of the date of the Incident, RCW 70.02.050 provided in relevant part:

RCW 70.02.050 Disclosure without patient's authorization:

- "(1) A healthcare provider or healthcare facility may disclose healthcare information about a patient without the patient's authorization to the extent a recipient **needs to know** the information, if the disclosure is: ...
- (d) To any person if the healthcare provider or healthcare facility reasonably believes that disclosure will avoid or minimize an imminent danger to the health or safety of the patient or any other individual, however, there is no obligation under this chapter on the

part of the provider or facility to so disclose;

(e) To immediate family members of the patient, including a patient's state registered domestic partner, or any other individual with whom the patient is known to have a close personal relationship, if made in accordance with good medical or other professional practice, unless the patient has instructed the healthcare provider or healthcare facility in writing not to make the disclosure ..."

RCW 70.02.050(1)(d)(e) (Emphasis added).

Disclosure of healthcare information based upon the "needs to know" portion of RCW 70.02.050(1) is a jury question. *Doe v. Group Health Cooperative*, 85 Wash. App. 213, 220, 932 P.2d 178 (1997), *overruled on other grounds*, 136 Wn.2d 195, 961 P.2d 333 (1998). Therefore, to the hypothetical extent disclosure might have been made, per Dr. Knoll, it would be a jury question.

Again, however, Volk, through the only medical expert testifying in this matter, Dr. Knoll, does not consider disclosure of healthcare information, or warning the Schiering family, as part of the actual breach of Dr. Ashby's standard of care. (CP 82-91).

C. The Immunity Afforded by RCW 71.05.120 is Inapplicable to This Case.

RCW 71.05.120 states, in part (emphasis added):

"(1) No officer of a public or private agency, nor the superintendent, professional person in charge, his or her professional designee, or attending staff of any such agency, nor any public official performing functions necessary to the administration of this chapter,

nor peace officer responsible for detaining a person pursuant to this chapter, nor any county designated mental health professional, nor the State, a unit of local government, or an evaluation and treatment facility shall be civilly or criminally liable for performing duties pursuant to this chapter with regard to the decision of whether to admit, discharge, release, administer anti-psychotic medications, or detain a person for evaluation and treatment: PROVIDED, That such duties were performed in good faith and without gross negligence.

In 1987, the Washington legislature narrowed the duty created by *Peterson* by enacting the Involuntary Treatment Act. *Volk v. DeMeerleer*, 184 Wn. App. at 422. However, RCW 71.05.120 applies only to situations concerning involuntary mental health treatment and voluntary in-patient mental health treatment. *Poletti v. Overlake Hospital Medical Ctr.*, 175 Wn. App. 828, 832, 303 P.3d 1079 (2013). The legislature chose not to address private psychiatric clinic settings.

In the instant case, Dr. Ashby's treatment of DeMeerleer was not for involuntary mental health treatment. DeMeerleer was not an in-patient voluntarily seeking mental health treatment. Therefore, the "Involuntary Treatment Act" is not applicable and Dr. Ashby is not entitled to the immunity set forth in RCW 71.05.120.

Est. of Davis v. Dept. of Corrections, 117 Wn. App. 833, 113 P.3d 487 (2005), does not compel a different result. In Davis, the defendant was under community supervision for taking a motor vehicle without permission and for a violation of his community service sentence resulting from that

offense. His community service mandated that he submit to a psychological anger control evaluation and comply with the resulting treatment requirements.

Unlike the defendant in *Davis*, DeMeerleer did not face confinement, evaluation and treatment requirements. Therefore, the "Involuntary Treatment Act" is not applicable and Dr. Ashby is not entitled to the immunity from liability set forth in RCW 71.05.120.

Dr. Ashby's reliance upon Justice Talmadge's concurring opinion in Hertog v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn. 2d 265, 293 n.7, 979 P.2d 400 (1999), is misplaced. As noted by Dr. Ashby, Justice Talmadge wrote in pertinent part:

"The legislature statutorily abrogated our holding in *Peterson* in Laws of 1987, ch. 212, § 301 (1) (codified at RCW 71.05.120(1)), with respect to the liability of the state." (emphasis added)

Clearly, Justice Talmadge is referring to the fact that RCW 71.05.120(1) addresses only the involuntary commitment settings, where a person is acting within statutory framework. In Justice Talmadge's concurrent opinion in *Hertog*, *supra*, he addresses the issue of "control" of a subject, an issue often associated with state liability. Control is not an issue in this matter.

D. <u>Dr. Knoll's Admissible Declaration Presents Questions of Fact</u>
with Respect to Dr. Ashby's Breach of Duty and Proximate
Causation Precluding Summary Judgment

James L. Knoll, IV, M.D. is a board-certified psychiatrist and

neurologist. He earned a subspecialty certification in forensic psychiatry. (CP 82 para 2; CP 93). The factual basis upon which he formed his opinions in this case is: (1) his review of the clinical records of Jan DeMeerleer from the Spokane Psychiatric Clinic; (2) his review of the Spokane Valley Police/Spokane County Sheriff Department's investigative files pertaining to the July 18, 2010 incident in question; and (3) his review of the Spokane County Medical Examiner's autopsy report and related toxicology report with respect to DeMeerleer. (CP 83 para 4). Dr. Knoll is knowledgeable of the applicable standard of care in the State of Washington. (Id. at para 5). His opinions and conclusions are made on a more probable than not basis, and when made with respect to clinical psychiatric practice, made with reasonable medical certainty, on a more probable than not basis. (CP 84 at para. 6).

Dr. Knoll's declaration sets forth testimony creating a question of fact with respect to Dr. Ashby's breach of the applicable standard of care. Specifically, at CP 90, para. 11, Dr. Knoll testifies in pertinent part:

"SPC breached the applicable standard of care by failing to exercise the decree of care, skill and learning expected of a reasonably prudent healthcare provider of psychiatric medical services, in the State of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances ... These breaches include, but are not limited to: failing to perform adequate assessments of DeMeerleer's risk of harming himself, and others when clinically indicated to do so; and failing to adequately monitor DeMeerleer's psychiatric condition, and provide appropriate treatment."

CP 90, para. 11.

"SPC" refers to Dr. Ashby and his colleagues at the Spokane Psychiatric Clinic. (CP 83, para. 5). Dr. Knoll's testimony, set forth in paragraph 11, creates genuine questions of fact as to whether Dr. Ashby breached the applicable standard of care. Accordingly, the trial court erred in granting the respondent's motion for summary judgment and the court of appeals correctly reversed.

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